

University of South Florida Scholar Commons

Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Graduate School

5-1-2014

Asymmetric Unilateral Transfemoral Prosthetic Simulator

Tyagi Ramakrishnan University of South Florida, tyagi@mail.usf.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarcommons.usf.edu/etd Part of the <u>Biomechanics Commons</u>, and the <u>Other Mechanical Engineering Commons</u>

Scholar Commons Citation

Ramakrishnan, Tyagi, "Asymmetric Unilateral Transfemoral Prosthetic Simulator" (2014). *Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. https://scholarcommons.usf.edu/etd/5111

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at Scholar Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholar Commons. For more information, please contact scholarcommons@usf.edu.



Asymmetric Unilateral Transfemoral Prosthetic Simulator

by

Tyagi Ramakrishnan

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Mechanical Engineering Department of Mechanical Engineering College of Engineering University of South Florida

> Major Professor: Kyle Reed, Ph.D. Luther Palmer, Ph.D. Jonathan Gaines, Ph.D.

> > Date of Approval: March 14, 2014

Keywords: Gait Rehabilitation, Knee Location, Passive Knee, Non Amputee Testing, Weight Reduction

Copyright © 2014, Tyagi Ramakrishnan



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude and thanks to my advisor Dr. Kyle B Reed, for his continuous support for this research, for his patience, motivation, never-ending enthusiasm, and immense knowledge. His guidance helped me complete this research study successfully.

I would like to offer special thanks to my fellow labmate at the REED lab, Ismet Handzic, for taking time to help me out with his experience as a senior graduate student and for teaching me the kinetic shapes concept which is the basis for the foot design.

I would like to acknowledge the machine shop for their excellent machining of components.

Finally, I offer my gratitude to my parents for their support and encouragement to pursue my dreams, without whom non of this is possible. I also like to thank my dear friend Nellie Bonilla for her patience, continuous support, and her faith in me during difficult times over the course of this thesis.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES iv
ABSTRACTvii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION
CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND
2.1 Human Gait Overview4
2.1.1 Phases of Human Gait4
2.1.2 Transfemoral Amputation
2.1.3 Gait Changes with Transfemoral Prosthesis
2.1.4 Gait Disorders Caused Due to Stroke7
2.2 Prosthetics
2.2.1 History of Prosthetics
2.2.2 Types of Prosthetic Knees10
2.2.3 Active Prosthetics
2.2.4 Passive Prosthetics
2.2.5 Problems Experienced by Transfemoral Prosthesis Users
2.3 Passive Dynamic Walker
2.3.1 Comparison to Actuated Bipedal Walkers
2.3.2 Comparison to Humanoid Walkers
2.3.3 Significance of Passive Dynamic Walker
2.4 Evolution of Asymmetric Passive Dynamic Walker Model
2.4.1 Rimless Wheel
2.4.2 Compass Gait17
2.4.3 Five Mass Model
2.4.4 Nine Mass Model
2.4.5 Symmetric Passive Dynamic Walker Studies
2.4.6 Asymmetric Passive Dynamic Walker Studies
2.4.7 Prosthesis Design Based on Asymmetric Passive Dynamic Walker
Theory
CHAPTER 3: DESIGN
3.1 Problem Statement
3.2 Prosthetic Knee



3.2.1 Introduction	23
3.2.2 Prosthetic Knee Mechanism	23
3.2.3 Prosthetic Knee Specifications and Materials	24
3.3 Prosthetic Thigh and Shank	27
3.3.1 Purpose	27
3.3.2 Settings	27
3.4 Foot	27
3.4.1 Foot Designs of PDWs	27
3.4.2 Rollover Shape	28
3.4.3 Mechanism	30
3.5 Knee Brace	30
3.5.1 Introduction	30
3.5.2 Requirements	32
3.6 Safety Analysis of Components	33
CHAPTER 4: TESTING AND EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS	38
4.1 Kinetic and Kinematic Data Acquisition Protocol	38
4.2 Kinematic Data Analysis for First Stage Testing	40
4.3 Kinematic and Kinetic Data Analysis for Second Stage Testing on CAREN	
System	42
4.4 Comparison of Data from Treadmill Walking and Over Ground Walking	43
4.5 Discussion	43
CHAPTER 5: FUTURE WORK AND CONCLUSIONS	45
LIST OF REFERENCES	47
APPENDICES	57
Appendix A Pictures	58
Appendix B Graphs for All Trials	60



LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1: Mass of Prosthetic Components	36
Table 3.2: Minimum Factor of Safety for Prosthetic Components	36
Table 4.1: Participant Data	



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1: The 8 Phases of Human Gait
Figure 2.2: Gait Enhancing Mobile Shoes
Figure 2.3: Design Change Based on Stump Length11
Figure 2.4: Design Aspects for Prosthesis Design
Figure 2.5: Evolution of Prosthesis17
Figure 2.6: Rimless Wheel17
Figure 2.7: PDW Link Phases
Figure 3.1: Complete Prosthetic Simulator Solidworks Assembly Model22
Figure 3.2: Prosthetic Simulator Fitted on Subject
Figure 3.3: Human Knee Locking and Unlocking During Walking
Figure 3.4: Simple Prosthetic Knee Mechanism
Figure 3.5: Mechanism of the Knee25
Figure 3.6: Gait with the Asymmetric Prosthesis
Figure 3.7: Gait with Asymmetric Prosthetic Simulator
Figure 3.8: Prosthetic Thigh and Shank Length Settings
Figure 3.9: Mechanism of Foot Roll Over During Walking
Figure 3.10: Foot Used for the Prosthesis
Figure 3.11: The Roll Over Shapes of the Prosthetic Foot



Figure 3.12: Kinetic Shape	
Figure 3.13: Prosthetic Knee Analysis	
Figure 3.14: Prosthetic Thigh and Shank Stress Analysis	
Figure 3.15: Prosthetic Foot Analysis	
Figure 3.16: Base Plate Stress Analysis	
Figure 4.1: Full Body Marker Layout	
Figure 4.2: Markers for Prosthetic Simulator	
Figure 4.3: Gait with Prosthetic Simulator- VICON Model	41
Figure 4.4: Cumulative Step Length Plot for All Subjects	41
Figure 4.5: Cumulative Swing Time Plot for All Subjects	41
Figure 4.6: Step Length for CAREN System	42
Figure 4.7: Swing Time for CAREN System	42
Figure 4.8 Ground Reaction Force Graph	44
Figure 4.9: CAREN System	44
Figure 5.1: Future Modular Design Concepts	46
Figure A.1: Knee Assembly Without Collars	58
Figure A.2: Knee Assembly Dismantled	58
Figure A.3: Knee Assembly Dismantled Isometric View	59
Figure A.4: Aluminum Raw Material 2D Drawing	59
Figure A.5: Spur Gear and Gear Rack 2D Drawing	59
Figure B.1: Normal Walking Step Length Graph for All Subjects	60
Figure B.2: Normal Walking Swing Time Graph for All Subjects	60
Figure B.3: Walking with Knee at Low Setting - Step Length Graph for All Sub	jects61
Figure B.4: Walking with Knee at Low Setting - Swing Time for All Subjects	61



Figure B.5: Walking with Knee at Medium Setting - Step Length Graph for All Subjects	61
Figure B.6: Walking with Knee at Medium Setting - Swing Time for All Subjects	62
Figure B.7: Walking with Knee at High Setting - Step Length Graph for All Subjects	62
Figure B.8: Walking with Knee at High Setting - Swing Time for All Subjects	62



www.manaraa.com

ABSTRACT

Transfemoral amputees develop a physical asymmetry because of their amputation, which includes reduced force generation at the knee and ankle, reduced control of the leg, and different mass properties relative to their intact leg. The physical change in the prosthetic leg leads to gait asymmetries that include spatial, temporal, or force differences. This altered gait can lead to an increase in energy consumption and pain due to compensating forces and torques. The asymmetric prosthesis demonstrated in this research aims to find a balance between the different types of asymmetries to provide a gait that is more symmetric and to make it overall easier for an amputee to walk.

Previous research has shown that a passive dynamic walker (PDW) with an altered knee location can exhibit a symmetric step length. An asymmetric prosthetic simulator was developed to emulate this PDW with an altered knee location. The prosthetic simulator designed for this research had adjustable knee settings simulating different knee locations. The prosthetic simulator was tested on able-bodied participants with no gait impairments. The kinetic and kinematic data was obtained using a VICON motion capture system and force plates.

This research analyzed the kinematic and kinetic data with different knee locations (high, medium, and low) and normal walking. This data was analyzed to find the asymmetries in step length, step time, and ground reaction forces between the different knee settings and normal walking.

The study showed that there is symmetry in step lengths for all the cases in overground walking. The knee at the lowest setting was the closest in emulating a normal symmetric step length. The swing times for overground walking showed that the healthy leg swings at almost the



same rate in every trial and the leg with the prosthetic simulator can either be symmetric, like the healthy leg or has a higher swing time. Step lengths on the treadmill also showed a similar pattern, and step length of the low knee setting were the closest to the step length of normal walking. The swing times for treadmills did not show a significant trend. Kinetic data from the treadmill study showed that there was force symmetry between the low setting and normal walking cases. In conclusion these results show that a low knee setting in an asymmetric prosthesis may bring about spatial and temporal symmetry in amputee gait.

This research is important to demonstrate that asymmetries in amputee gait can be mitigated using a prosthesis with a knee location dissimilar to that of the intact leg. Tradeoffs have to be made to achieve symmetric step length, swing times, or reaction forces. A comprehensive study with more subjects has to be conducted in-order to have a larger sample size to obtain statistically significant data. There is also opportunity to expand this research to observe a wider range of kinetic and kinematic data of the asymmetric prosthesis.



CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Human walking is a complex process involving various muscles and precise neurological synchronization. The legs swing back to front to generate forward motion, and each leg swings 180 degrees out of phase with the other. This gait cycle is altered by amputation, stroke, physical changes, and other forms of physical and neural disorders. The goal of this research is to correct gait irregularities found in transfemoral prosthesis users.

This thesis shows the proof of concept of the theoretical transfemoral prosthesis design based on passive dynamic walkers [39] [87] [88]. Transfemoral amputation and knee dis-articulation [4] are procedures where the person loses the function of the knee and the ankle joints. Transfemoral amputees with a symmetric prosthesis compensate for altered forces with their intact leg, alter their gait in order to walk comfortably, expend higher energy in walking than able bodied and transtibial amputees, and often experience pain in the intact leg and at the hip joints. Thus, there is a need to further refine prosthetic devices.

The design of this prosthesis looks to improve the quality of gait in transfemoral prosthesis users. The model is based on passive dynamic walkers [88], and shows that the shift in knee location decreases the overall prosthesis weight. The reduction in weight combined with a shorter shank swing reduces the energy cost required to walk [41]. To obtain data without relying on a subject with transfemoral amputation, I decided to test it out on able bodied subjects. This resulted in the asymmetric unilateral transfemoral prosthetic simulator.

The prosthetic simulator helps in the study of gait rehabilitation in many ways. The simulator does not require a customized design and can be worn by any able bodied person. This simulator differs a lot from its predecessors because the knee location is below the anatomical position allowing



for a simpler design without an offset to accommodate the knee. The shifting of the knee also makes the design lightweight. The problem statement for the design also required a completely passive system which resulted in a low cost design.

The scope of this thesis is to demonstrate the efficacy of the prosthesis with the shifted knee location in real world conditions. The prosthetic simulator is designed to have variable knee locations. The walking behavior of the wearer is compared at every knee location. According to the background, the lowest possible knee location should be the easiest to walk on. However, the look of the prosthesis is out of the ordinary because of the asymmetry. This is justified since prosthetic devices have always been a unique field of design and the potential benefit to gait may outweigh the decrease in appearance. The big picture for this type of prosthesis is that an inexpensive system such as this can provide a comfortable gait and can reduce the energy costs of the user.

The Background Chapter of this thesis covers a range of topics. Human gait analysis is the basis for prosthetic development. The various phases of gait is explained followed by gait asymmetries that arise due to the use of transfemoral prostheses and due to stroke. Gait after stroke is an interesting observation because stroke introduces a damping effect in the knee joint that causes a lot of interesting gait changes similar to gait changes in prosthesis users. Prosthetic types and problems with current transfemoral prosthetic designs are also analyzed. This is important to get a good understanding of the knee, ankle mechanisms, and type of compensation strategies amputees employ to have a stable gait. Passive dynamic walkers have been successfully used to model human gait. This shows the importance of the computational model that asymmetries in the knee height can still maintain gait symmetry.

The prosthetic simulator design is elaborated in the Design Chapter. The chapter describes the designs of the prosthetic knee, ankle, thigh, shank, knee brace, and the safety analysis conducted on the assemblies. The knee is the most interesting part of the system since it is completely passive utilizing a weight/position activated locking mechanism. The foot design is also unique because it uses a kinetic shape instead of an ankle joint. This saves weight and makes it easy for manufacturing. The thigh and shank are completely adjustable at 20mm differences. The thigh and shank are



2

connected to the knee and allows the shifting of the knee lower or higher. The final part of the Design Chapter deals with the safety of the design. SolidWorks assemblies are analyzed with simulated ground reaction forces. The forces were deliberately chosen at the higher spectrum to ensure that the design is safe for any form of impact and cyclic loads.

The chapter on research results demonstrates the efficacy of all the claims. The data which provides the basis to prove that the system improves energy costs for the user is represented in the form of graphs for easy interpretation. The tests were conducted on the VICON system using 8 infrared cameras and markers to obtain precise motion capture data. Three test subjects were used for the experiment. The normal walking data of the participants is captured and it is then compared to the data when the participants were walking with the prosthetic simulator. Every participant walked on the prosthesis with the knee location at three different heights high, medium, and low depending on the participant's height.



CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND

2.1 Human Gait Overview

Human gait is a cyclic walking pattern created by putting one leg in front of the other to move forward with a leg trajectory from back to front. During healthy human gait, legs move in a symmetric fashion that is always 180 degrees out of phase. Gait is a result of various complex movements occurring in synchronization. Humans start walking from a very early age where they develop the neural networking to activate specific groups of muscles in the legs that help in walking [16]. A complete gait cycle involves two major phases that each leg follows. In turn, each phase is subdivided into four subphases.

2.1.1 Phases of Human Gait

The two major phases of human gait are the stance and swing phase [67] [92]; these phases are depicted in Figure 2.1. The stance phase is the time the foot is in contact with the ground, whereas the swing phase consists of the time when the foot is swinging in the air. When one leg is going through the stance phase the other leg goes through the swing phase. During walking, there also exists a phase called double support where both the feet are in contact with the ground, which accounts for approximately 10% of the gait cycle. When the heel strike occurs on the stance leg, the swing leg is toeing off during its pre-swing phase. During the loading response sub-phase, the weight begins to shift to the stance leg meanwhile the swing leg initiates swing. During the mid-stance subphase,





Figure 2.1: The 8 Phases of Human Gait. The Stars Represent Heel Strike at Initial Contact and Knee Strike at Terminal Swing.

all the load is shifted to the stance leg and the swing leg is in mid-swing. During the terminal stance subphase, the stance leg prepares for toe off and the swing leg initiates heel strike.

2.1.2 Transfemoral Amputation

Transfemoral amputation is the amputation of the leg above the knee. This type of amputation is usually performed as a result of trauma, accidents, or due to disease, like diabetes, vascular disease etc. With this type of amputation a person loses two of the most versatile joints in the human body, knee and ankle. The knee joint is important to human gait because it serves as a junction for the thigh and shank muscles. The knee locks and unlocks during heel strike and toe off respectively. Knee locking can be caused either by contraction of muscles (voluntary) or a slight overextension of the knee (involuntary). Without locking of the knee, human legs would buckle and walking would not be possible. Ankle joints are important in gait because the joint offers stiffness to avoid collapse of the leg at dorsiflexion or heel strike; at planarfexion or toe off it provides control and power to



propel the body forward. The loss of function of these muscles results in variation of gait, usually as age progresses [45].

2.1.3 Gait Changes with Transfemoral Prosthesis

Transfemoral prostheses are designed specifically for people who have undergone transfemoral amputation. The prosthetic leg consists of a socket for the residual limb, a prosthetic knee and a prosthetic ankle. All prostheses to date aim to have the prosthetic knee in a symmetric position matching the intact leg. The prosthetic knees and ankles for various models of prostheses available are designed to mimic natural size, weight, and motion as close as possible. Amputees fitted with such a prosthesis tend to compensate with their stride length rather than step rate [43]. This means that the amputee spends more time on their biological leg than their prosthesis [38]. Jaeger et al. [43] noticed that the amount of asymmetry in gait has a relation with the stump length; the longer the stump length the lower the asymmetry. Knee disarticulation [4] [7] is a type of amputation that leaves the femur and the patella intact and it is more advantageous than transfemoral amputee gait [80]. Spatiotemporal parameters include the measurement of step length, step width, walking speed and cycle time. Center of pressure of the prosthesis fails to shift towards the posterior during gait initiation [93] and anterior during gait termination [94], whereas ideally it should.

Unilateral transfemoral amputees expend more energy than unilateral transtibial amputees (below knee) and healthy subjects [41][6]. This shows that there is a correlation between the energy expenditure and number of joints lost. This functional loss is because of the missing joints, or degrees of freedom, in the amputated leg. To equalize the functional losses, the body has to work harder; in this case it is the intact leg that experiences an increase in joint force moments and has to expend higher energy [63]. There are also residual stresses that are experienced in the stump as well, resulting in discomfort while walking [77]. The stresses in the residual stump are a bi-product of



asymmetric reaction forces and moments. A study conducted by Mattes et al. [54] showed that as the mass and moment of inertia of the prosthesis approaches that of the intact leg the more asymmetric the gait becomes, therefore, expending more energy. Alignment of the prosthesis is also identified as a factor to increase energy expenditure [79]. The asymmetries in alignment also give rise to postural asymmetries. Gaunaurd et al. [18], showed that leg length, pelvic inclination, and hip extension were different for the intact and the amputated leg. Rabufetti et al. [69] showed that transfemoral amputees adapt asymmetric pelvic tilt and joint angles at the hip as compensation strategies during gait. The goal of the asymmetric prosthesis is to alleviate any form of compensatory motions, which in-turn reduce the misalignments of the prosthetic joints during walking. All transfemoral prosthesis designs so far have the knee location matching the intact leg. To mitigate gait asymmetries, I am investigating the use of an asymmetric transfemoral prosthesis. There was no mention in literature of an asymmetric prosthesis before the study by Sushko et al. [88]. The asymmetric prosthesis is a simple and unique passive solution relying purely on tuning walking dynamics.

2.1.4 Gait Disorders Caused Due to Stroke

Stroke is caused by a sudden loss of blood to the brain, clinically known as a cerebrovascular accident. Stroke can cause multiple problems depending on the part of the brain that is affected. The side-effects can be total muscular dysfunction of limbs on one side of the body, an inability to speak, or understand speech, and blindness in one side. Stroke victims who suffer from damage in their central nervous system, specifically hemiplegia which is a paralysis of the arm, leg and trunk on the same side of the body, develop an asymmetric gait [48] [60] [75]. Stroke victims develop gait asymmetries which is comparable to transfemoral amputees. The asymmetry is mostly caused by the stroke affected leg lagging behind the healthy leg. The stroke-affected leg lags because of decreased strength, or the inability to generate voluntary contractions in the required muscle groups, and inappropriate timing of muscle activity [65]. This affects the individual's healthy leg as well



7



Figure 2.2: Gait Enhancing Mobile Shoes

since it has to expend more energy in compensating [13] for the lagging leg similar to transfermoral amputee gait.

Stroke victims, unlike amputees, have their limbs intact, therefore, rehabilitation of the damaged central nervous system of the affected side is possible. It is a matter of retraining the stroke-affected nervous system and muscles to restore the symmetric gait [33] [51]. Split-belt treadmills are employed to rehabilitate asymmetric hemiparetic gait. The treadmills have asymmetric belt velocities so the stride velocity of the lagging leg can be matched to the healthy leg [74]. However, the restoration of gait using split-belt treadmills is temporary in stroke victims since they were incapable to neurologically store the feed-forward walking pattern once they started walking on the ground [14] [73]. Other popular forms of rehabilitation are for a physical therapist to move the stroke patients limbs manually. This form of rehabilitation has now been automated by the use of exoskeletons [1] [3] [98].

The gait enhancing mobile shoes (GEMS) [14] [24] [29] is a recent development in stroke rehabilitation, shown in Figure 2.2. The GEMS is specifically designed to restore the gait permanently to the patient. GEMS performs two forms of rehabilitation: exaggeration and compensation [24] [25] [30]. Rehabilitation based on exaggeration is when the GEMS is worn on the lagging leg, the lagging leg is pushed backwards and motivates the user to perform a healthy toe-off.



Rehabilitation based on compensation is when the GEMS is worn on the healthy leg, this evens out the forward advancement between the healthy and lagging leg resulting in a symmetric gait. GEMS essentially reproduces the effects of a split-belt tread-mill over ground. The advantage of GEMS is that users can wear them over a long period of time performing ambulatory functions at home, which is important because retention is better if more time is spent in rehabilitation. Therefore, GEMS provides low cost stroke rehabilitation therapy that enables frequent and effective training at home [72].

2.2 **Prosthetics**

A prosthesis substitutes for or supplements the missing or defective body part. A prosthesis can be fitted externally or implanted into a person. Transfemoral amputation requires an external prostheses. Traditionally unilateral transfemoral prosthesis have always been made symmetric to the intact leg. This thesis is about development of an asymmetric lower limb prosthesis for transfemoral amputees where the knee is in an altered position relative to the intact knee, yet while retaining a symmetric gait. This section is intended to provide a comprehensive analysis of lower limb prosthetics starting with prosthetic development over the years, enumerate types of lower limb prosthesis and finally express the problems prosthesis users deal with.

2.2.1 History of Prosthetics

The purpose of this section is to have a brief review of the history of lower limb prosthetic devices. Prostheses have been in existence from the time of ancient Egyptians [89]. Early prostheses were simple stubs of wood that the person used to balance while walking. They did not assume an anthromorphic (human like) design until the late 18th century [64]. The prostheses before the 20th century were mostly passive. Due to the increase in the number of war related amputations, research began to develop better prosthetic devices. The first powered prosthesis was a pneumatic



hand in Germany [10] and since then powered prosthetic designs have improved tremendously. Modern day prostheses feature microprocessor control and sophisticated hardware and software that mimic natural human gait. The high-end prosthesis technology is not accessible to everyone and still millions of amputees use semi-automated or passive prostheses. Now with the advancement in technology brings the possibility of inexpensive 3D printed prostheses [84].

2.2.2 Types of Prosthetic Knees

There are currently five general types of prosthetic knees available.

- 1. Manual Locking Knee
- 2. Polycentric Knee
- 3. Weight Activated Stance Control Knee
- 4. Single Axis Knee With Constant Friction
- 5. Knee with Outside Hinges

The manual locking knee is the most stable knee of the five but it has the lowest voluntary control; on the other hand, the knee with outside hinges is the least stable of the designs but has the high voluntary control. Control refers to the influence of the wearer on the device and stability is the influence of the device on the wearer. The Medicare Functional Modifier System [82] defines the "K" scale/score system to classify knees ranging from K0 - K4, where K0 is healthy humans and K4 is for children, bilateral amputees, and athletes. Most transfemoral amputees fall under K2 and K3 where they have to perform tasks in various environments.

The types of passive prosthetic knee joints can be further classified based on the design aspects. The design aspects are axes, friction, adjustability, mechanisms for locking, microprocessor control, and extension aids [34] [35] [37]. Axes that are commonly used are single, polycentric and exoskeletal. Common frictional components can be fluid based, pneumatic or hydraulic, or sliding based, constant, or variable. Locking mechanisms are manual, weight activated, and geometric lock. Extension aids are either internal or external. A combination of these design aspects coupled with





Figure 2.3: Design Change Based on Stump Length. (a) Short Stump with High Stability and Low Voluntary Control. The Thigh-Knee-Ankle (TKA) Weight Line is in the Anterior to the Knee Joint (b) Medium Stump with Medium Stability and Medium Voluntary Control. The TKA Weight Line is in the Middle to the Knee Joint (c) Long Stump (Knee Disarticulation) with Low Stability and High Voluntary Control. The TKA Weight Line is in the Posterior to the Knee Joint

the alignment of the knee's center of rotation relative to the Thigh-Knee-Ankle (TKA) weight line brings about the different types of prosthetic knee designs, design aspects shown in Figure 2.4. The design analysis is important since the asymmetric prosthetic design shifts the center of rotation axis below the anatomical center of rotation. Stability and control of a prosthesis can be explained with respect to TKA weight line, stability is high and voluntary control is low when the TKA weight line is anterior to the knee axis and vice versa when the TKA weight line is posterior to the knee axis, shown in Figure 2.3. The type of knee can further be related to the stump length of the amputee, long stump length, typically knee disarticulation [4], requires a low stability high control prosthetic knee joints because the amputee has enough residual muscles to have voluntary control and can maintain stability. Short stump lengths need high stability and low control prosthetic knee joints, because the amputees do not have enough muscles to have voluntary control and maintain stability.





Figure 2.4: Design Aspects for Prosthesis Design

2.2.3 Active Prosthetics

This section is a brief overview about active prostheses, discussing their working, advantages, and disadvantages. Active knee and ankle prostheses are designed specifically to mirror the motion of the intact leg while walking. Active prostheses are microprocessor controlled and they use sensors to track the position of the knee and ankle joint, applied forces, stride lengths, stride velocity, and other measurements in order to acclimate to variation in speeds, activities, and environments [34] [36]. Actuators used to power these prosthetic devices are fluid based, pneumatic or hydraulic actuators, or electric motors. Pneumatic prosthesis designs have precise control and have enough power to assist in positive work, pneumatic prosthesis have demonstrated effective traversal over level surfaces [85]. A finite state based impedance approach was taken to control the prosthesis during walking and standing [86] [99]. Hydraulic systems are heavier than pneumatics, but offer higher power to weight ratio with lower leakages. A study by Yokogushi et al. [97] showed a successful design of a hydraulic polycentric knee that was capable of performing under various step rates and the results were similar to healthy human knee behaviour. Series elastic actuators utilize electric motors, in a study conducted by Martinez et al. [53] a prosthetic knee made out of series elastic actuators was modeled that was in agreement with normal knee mechanics. Active ankle prosthesis vary stiffness based on the



activity performed by the user, microprocessor control [5] and electromyography control [2] have been employed in active ankle prosthesis.

Active prostheses adapt to the wearer's motion compensating for the lack of muscle control in the residual limb. Transfemoral amputees employing active microprocessor controlled prostheses have shown significant improvements in gait and balance when compared to passive prostheses [44] [46]. This control provided by the active prosthetic systems resulted in lower energy expenditure when compared to that of a passive knee prosthesis [68] [81]. The only disadvantage to these otherwise proficient systems is their high price, need for on board power, and noise caused by actuators.

2.2.4 Passive Prosthetics

The Jaipur knee is a good example of a low cost prosthesis. Costing less than 40 dollars, it is manufactured by one of the world's largest prosthetic manufacturers in the world: the Jaipur-foot organization, India [61]. Passive prostheses rely on energy storage and release during gait [90]. Energy is stored during heel strike and it is released during toe off, in passive systems energy storage and release which is usually accomplished by springs. High energy expenditure during walking is one of the major reason amputees are unable to use them to the extent that they need [11]. The energy expenditure can be mitigated with good prosthetic design. Manual locking, polycentric, and weight activated stance control knees are popular when adapted for passive systems. This is because these prosthetic knee designs allow for simple mechanical and geometric locking that can function without microprocessor control.

The conceptual design by Sushko et al. [88] showed that an asymmetric transfermoral prosthesis was lighter than conventional prostheses, and can successfully restore symmetric gait. This thesis project utilizes a single axis knee with a weight/position translational locking knee mechanism and a passive ankle, using the design aspects described in section 2.2.2.



2.2.5 Problems Experienced by Transfemoral Prosthesis Users

Transfemoral amputees experience a myriad of problems affecting their quality of life [23]. Gait asymmetry is one among them discussed in section 2.1.2. Residual stump of transfemoral amputees is always enclosed in a socket, which is part of the prosthesis. In the socket the residual stump is affected by sweat and friction. This results in skin sores and other dermatological complications [15]. This section contains a summary of passive knee and ankle systems. Passive prostheses can either be internal, artificial knee implants [19], or external prostheses. This thesis focuses on transfermoral prosthesis and therefore this section is dedicated to examine external passive prosthetics. As discussed in section 2.2.3 the major disadvantages with the active prostheses is that they are expensive, need a portable power source, and the noise caused by the actuators. There are more amputees in developing countries than there are in all of the western world combined. Amputees in developing countries do not have the same opportunities as offered in countries such as United States of America. Therefore, there is a need for cheaper prosthetic devices that can make them walk and enable them to be a productive part of their society [83]. Passive knee and ankle joints with simple designs and cost-effective manufacturing is the solution for the less fortunate amputees. The sockets have to be tight around the residual stump to avoid slipping, this causes additional discomfort to the amputee. A biomechanical study by Gottschalk et al. [21] revealed that the loss of important groups of muscles, used for abduction and adduction in transfermoral amputees caused a loss of function in the hips and that preserving these muscle groups improved the walking conditions for amputees. The study also showed that comfort level for the amputee is dependent on the amount of residual tissue.

2.3 Passive Dynamic Walker

Passive dynamic walkers are mechanical devices which can walk downhill on a slope with only the force of gravity acting upon them [55] [56]. Passive dynamic walkers can be used to model human walking [28]. Passive dynamic walkers do not have any cognition unlike humans



and therefore are suitable to model the sole kinematics of the human gait, in the absence of human feedback. The computational models of passive dynamic walkers can be turned to exhibit normal or pathological gait by varying PDW mass and mass distribution parameters. This section explains the importance of passive dynamic walkers in the design and validation of the asymmetric prosthesis.

2.3.1 Comparison to Actuated Bipedal Walkers

Actuated walkers are essentially robots with legs. They are classified into bipedal, quadrupeds and hexapods [66] [71]. Quadrupeds are four legged, like Bigdog by Boston dynamics [70], and hexapods, RHex [78], are six legged robotic models. Bipedal robots are two legged robots, some are essentially actuated passive dynamic walkers [12] [96]. These bipedal robots have motors that power the hip, knee, and ankle joints. The power permits these bipedal robots to walk on level ground by activating the joints to initiate gait. Passive dynamic walkers on the other hand can only walk down a slope, using gravitational force to move the joints. Passive dynamic walkers rely on gravity to initiate and sustain motion. Actuated Bipedal walkers can exhibit natural gait, but they require quasi-static balance [59]. Quasi-static balance in bipedal robots is to keep them from falling forward or backward while shifting their mass from between the legs. McGeer [55] describes passive dynamic walker motion as controlled free-fall.

2.3.2 Comparison to Humanoid Walkers

Humanoid robots are bipedal and they have anthromorphic features. Honda Asimo, Petman (Boston dynamics), Atlas (Boston Dynamics), and NAO humanoid robot [47] are successful humanoid robots. These robots are different from passive dynamic walkers because of their walking pattern. Stable dynamic walking does not have any autonomy in navigation [9]. Humanoid robots are completely autonomous and have to be in control of their navigation at every stage. Humanoid robots maintain static equilibrium at every phase because it allows them to control their motion



effectively. The increased need for control makes these robots less energy efficient compared to passive dynamic walkers. Passive dynamic walkers do not have the ability to do other tasks apart from maintaining a naturalistic gait [27]. Therefore, passive dynamic walkers are energy efficient walking systems that cannot perform other tasks, and humanoid robots can do multiple tasks but do not have a natural gait.

2.3.3 Significance of Passive Dynamic Walker

Passive dynamic walkers are significant to this thesis because they provide versatile models for analyzing human gait [28]. Computational models of passive dynamic walkers have helped us in the understanding the various charecteristics of human gait. This development led to the asymmetric passive dynamic walker model [39] [87]. This model was flexible to simulate multiple configuration of masses, limb lengths etc. Therefore, when a transfemoral prosthesis was designed using this model, it showed that the knee location can be shifted below the anatomical position [88]. These computational models are also useful to render and design bipedal robots [12] [96].

2.4 Evolution of Asymmetric Passive Dynamic Walker Model

The nine mass model was designed to model asymmetric gait [39] [87]. It is a derivation of the five mass model [8]. The evolution of the nine mass model is covered in this section, shown in Figure 2.5.

2.4.1 Rimless Wheel

Passive dynamic walker gait can be compared to a rimless wheel rolling down a slope [52], depicted in Figure 2.6. While rolling a rimless wheel is always stable as every spoke makes contact with the ground, and it maintains its dynamic equilibrium by rolling. This is essentially dynamically stable free fall. Rimless wheels can also be used as walking mechanisms for robots [42]. A recent





Figure 2.5: Evolution of Prosthesis. (a) Rimless Wheel (b) Compass Gait (c) Five Mass Model (d) Nine Mass Model (e) Asymmetric Nine Mass Model



Figure 2.6: Rimless Wheel

study by Harata et al. [32] showed the design of an asymmetric rimless wheel with knee joints. The adjacent spokes of the asymmetric rimless wheel behave like a passive dynamic walker when it rolls.

2.4.2 Compass Gait

The first model of the passive dynamic walker was a straight leg model by McGeer [55], also known as the compass gait model. The compass gait walker model is equivalent to a double pendulum. It consists of three point masses, two of which are legs and the third is to simulate the hip joint [20]. This model is very limited since it does not have knee joints, and cannot be used to model normal human gait. However, hip moments and forces can be represented well in different gait conditions. This model was the predecessor to the passive dynamic walker with knees [57].





Figure 2.7: PDW Link Phases. (a) 3 Link Phase, (b) 2 Link Phase

2.4.3 Five Mass Model

The five mass model derived from Chen's [8] passive dynamic model was the step up from the compass gait model [55] and the PDW with knees [8] [57]. Five mass PDW models have two discrete phases of gait: 3-link phase, 2-link phase, depicted in Figure 2.7. For a normal gait cycle to exist, the energy lost during knee strike and heel strike has to be gained back from the effect of gravity on the overall inertia of the walker. This is similar to human gait where the energy stored at heel strike is released during toe off. The five mass model dynamics for various events were derived by Honeycutt et al. [39] and Sushko [87]. The five mass represent the hip, two thigh masses and two shank masses. Center of mass in the five mass walker can be changed to the anterior or posterior of the hip mass by changing the changing the moment of inertia [87]. The masses are not adjustable and assume the center of mass position of the hip, thigh and shank. This model was effective in presenting the mass distribution of a physical passive dynamic walker [40].

2.4.4 Nine Mass Model

The nine mass model is derived from the five mass model. The nine mass model is more versatile and adaptable to simulate mass distribution on the limbs. Four masses were added to the walker, one for each thigh and shank. The computational model of a passive walker utilizing the nine mass model



was used by Honeycutt [40] to design and build a passive dynamic walker. The nine mass model was further developed by Sushko [87] where it was proven to be a better model than the five mass model to analyze asymmetric configurations. The center of mass and the moment of inertia can be varied independently in the nine mass walker unlike the five mass model.

2.4.5 Symmetric Passive Dynamic Walker Studies

Passive dynamic walkers so far, have been designed with symmetric knee location. This has allowed us to study and analyze healthy human gait [28]. There are several gait models that are available as discussed in section 2.3.2, but only the nine mass is relevant for the thesis. The nine mass model can accurately represent mass distribution, moment of inertia and other characteristics of human gait in a symmetric configuration. Honeycutt [40] used the nine mass model to design a 2 legged passive dynamic walker with symmetric gait. This was the proof of concept that the data from a computational model of the nine mass system can be used to design real systems.

2.4.6 Asymmetric Passive Dynamic Walker Studies

Analysis carried out by Sushko [87] on the nine mass model investigated asymmetric gait. The experiments were based on changing the moment of inertia on one leg and center of mass on the other. The changes gave rise to large asymmetries which then could be corrected by adjusting the center of mass or the moment of inertia. It is interesting to note that the configurations need not be the same to achieve symmetry. A recent study by Handzic et al. [62] showed that passive kinematic synchronization enables two dissimilar dynamic rotating systems to achieve the same motion without any sort of intra-system coupling or intervening control laws. Their model revealed that two double pendulums with different configurations of masses can swing in synchronization. This research is relevant because walker and human legs are systems similar to double and triple pendulums.



www.manaraa.com

Therefore, if there is an asymmetry in their walking pattern it can be mitigated by adding masses to an appropriate configuration.

2.4.7 Prosthesis Design Based on Asymmetric Passive Dynamic Walker Theory

The adjustability of the nine mass model made it possible to achieve symmetric gait in a model with different leg lengths. Sushko [87] was able to demonstrate that a maximum of 68% removal of shank mass and a 13.4% removal of the total prosthesis mass can exhibit symmetric gait. This meant that the location of the prosthetic knee can be below the anatomical position. Sushko et al. [88] laid out the design of a conceptual asymmetric prosthesis with the knee location shifted below the normal position. Therefore, the addition or removal of masses and their positions can be computationally calculated for every person's geometry and will speed up the process in prosthetic design. The testing of this model will be conducted on normal human subjects fitted with a prosthetic simulator [85] [49] [91] [22]. The difference is that the knee location in the asymmetric prosthesis can be in the TKA weight line, because the knee location is below the natural knee line.



CHAPTER 3: DESIGN

3.1 Problem Statement

The goal of this research is to demonstrate that an asymmetric knee location can help improve the energy costs and symmetry in gait for transfemoral amputees. This thesis serves as a proof of concept. The prosthetic simulator has three different knee locations for every wearer. This design is specifically geared towards non-amputee wearers, for testing purposes. Testing it upon non amputees eliminates the compatibility problems that come with testing it on amputees, elaborated in Chapter 4. The idea behind the prosthesis is based on the computational prosthesis design derived from the nine mass passive dynamic walker [39] [87] [88], the concepts are discussed in detail in Chapter 2. This design aims to develop a prosthesis that is lighter than a human shank and has adjustable knee locations. The prosthesis can be used to analyze the variations in gait based on the knee location. As the knee location shifts downwards, the moment arm of the shank decreases, therefore, having a shorter shank swing phase.

This Chapter describes the design aspects of the asymmetric unilateral prosthetic simulator for use by non-amputees. The major components of this design are the passive knee, prosthetic thigh and shank, passive foot, and knee brace. The SolidWorks model of the complete assembly provides an accurate representation of the system, is depicted in Figure 3.1, and the complete system on a subject is shown in Figure 3.2. Detailed SolidWorks diagrams with dimensions and photographs for the entire design can be found in Appendix A.



21



Figure 3.1: Complete Prosthetic Simulator Solidworks Assembly Model



Figure 3.2: Prosthetic Simulator Fitted on Subject



3.2 Prosthetic Knee

3.2.1 Introduction

The problem statement requires that the prosthetic knee be a completely passive system. The inspiration for the design stemmed from the mechanism of the human knee. The knee is a very complex mechanism, consisting of a wide range of ligaments, tendons, muscles, cartilage, bones, and synovial fluid. For simplicity, only the movement of the bones are considered for determining the knee mechanism for locking and unlocking. The depiction in Figure 3.3 shows that the tibia and patella perform translational, as well as rotational motion, over the femoral surface. The cartilage acts as a guiding path for the patella. The locking and unlocking mechanism of the knee during normal walking is completely passive, utilizing only the dynamic forces of forward motion. The knee can be locked in other positions apart from the extension position by activating muscles to lock the knee is in the fully extended position, where the wearer's weight pushes the system down to lock. The novel knee mechanism experimented within this prosthesis design is a position/weight activated locking mechanism, explained in section 3.2.2. The detailed drawing with measurements of the prosthetic knee are listed in Appendix A.

3.2.2 Prosthetic Knee Mechanism

The knee was designed with the intent to incorporate translational and rotational motion in the mechanism. The position/weight activated locking mechanism simplifies the complex trajectory by allowing only two degrees of freedom, vertical translation, and single axis rotation to the complete system, depicted in Figure 3.4. The vertical translation is achieved by a simple vertical slot allowing the knee joint to have a small vertical displacement of 15mm, depicted in Figure 3.4. This translational freedom is utilized to lock and unlock the knee. The knee is locked when the weight of the





Figure 3.3: Human Knee Locking and Unlocking During Walking. Shows How the Tibia and Patella Rotate as Well as Translate Over the Femor.

wearer acts upon the knee assembly making the knee assembly reach its upper limit of its vertical translation. The locking is carried out by the half spur gear meshing with the gear rack fitted on top of the knee housing, depicted by Figure 3.5 (e). The knee starts to unlock as the wearer releases their weight at toe off and the force of gravity pulls the knee joint to the lower limit of its vertical translation, depicted in 3.5 (b). The single axis rotational freedom is provided to help the knee and shank perform a natural swing. The knee is free to rotate as its vertical position changes downward. Just before the terminal swing phase, the knee strikes the stopper to attain its position before the upward translation, depicted in Figure 3.5 (f). The gait with a prosthetic simulator worn by an able bodied person is shown in Figure 3.7 and the gait with an asymmetric prosthesis is shown in Figure 3.6.

3.2.3 Prosthetic Knee Specifications and Materials

The knee is required to overcome shock and transient loads generated during human walking. The maximum load on the prosthetic simulator can be as much as three times the wearer's bodyweight [50]. Assuming the wearer's weight to be a maximum of 100 Kg, the dynamic transient forces, which are higher than the heel strike force, is about three times the person's bodyweight.





Figure 3.4: Simple Prosthetic Knee Mechanism. Two Degrees of Freedom, Vertical Translation and Single Axis Rotation



Figure 3.5: Mechanism of the Knee. SolidWorks Model Representing Knee Locking and Unlocking




Figure 3.6: Gait with the Asymmetric Prosthesis.



Figure 3.7: Gait with Asymmetric Prosthetic Simulator

Therefore, every component of the knee should be able to withstand close to 3000N of force at any given point. The knee is designed to be effectively heavier than the prosthetic thigh and shank, as seen in Table 3.1. This ensures that the center of mass of the prosthesis is near the knee. This allows the center of mass to change based on the position of the knee in the prosthesis. The change in center of mass is an important observation provided by Susko et al. [88], which explains that a symmetric gait can be achieved by varying the center of mass of the knee to asymmetric locations with counter weights on the intact leg.

The knee is made out of a combination of aluminum and steel. Aluminum is used to build the knee housing, knee block, and collars. Aluminum is readily available, easy to machine, and has a high strength to weight ratio. However, steel has a higher shear strength and hence the gear, gear rack and shaft are made out of it. The shaft, gear, and gear rack experience shear and shock loads every gait cycle, aluminum will fatigue easily under such conditions.



3.3 Prosthetic Thigh and Shank

3.3.1 Purpose

The thigh and shank are simple adjustable linkages. They are used to adjust the height of the prosthesis to allow different knee locations. They are made out of aluminum cylinders, one hollow and one solid cylinder. The links are fit in place with the help of a bolt.

3.3.2 Settings

The thigh and shank are similar in design (consisting of two cylinders) with a maximum length of 240mm and minimum length of 140mm. The thigh and shank have six settings each allowing for 12 total settings. Each setting gives the user 20mm of difference in length, depicted in Figure 3.8. There is a constant length of the knee (Knee Top Plate + Gear Rack Width + Knee Block) and the foot height equivalent to 105mm. Therefore, depending on the anatomical shank length of the wearer, the settings can be decided keeping in mind the constant lengths. The detailed drawings of the prosthetic thigh and shank are depicted in Appendix A.

3.4 Foot

3.4.1 Foot Designs of PDWs

The foot designs of passive dynamic walkers offered an insight into passive foot designs that can be employed on the prosthetic simulator. Passive dynamic walkers have been modeled with a point foot, curved foot, and in more advanced biped walkers ankles that can provide forces similar to dorsiflexion. The point foot is an easy analytical model that was used by Chen [8] to analyze the five mass model. The curved foot model was first proposed by McGeer [56], that is a constant radius foot with a radius approximately one third leg length. This foot shape allowed the PDW's legs to clear





Figure 3.8: Prosthetic Thigh and Shank Length Settings

the ground easily. The foot design by Honeycutt explored the possibilities of testing changing radius foot designs in passive dynamic walkers, which would enable the foot to release the energy stored during heel strike at toe off [40]. In an another study they showed that constant radius foot designs can be replaced with flat foot designs that were mounted on the ankles using torsional springs [95]. In this project I chose to keep the foot design as simple as possible. The design resulted in a foot that does not require an ankle.

3.4.2 Rollover Shape

The foot design was based on roll over shapes. Roll over shapes are defined by the change in center of pressure of the foot during walking. There are three main phases when the center of pressure at the foot changes: stride initiation, steady state, and termination. In this design a constant radius roll over shape, which is one third of the total leg length, is considered [58]. The assumption is made based on the roll over shapes analyzed in [31] [58] [67], which show that most of the roll over happens in the anterior of the foot.



Two roll over shapes were tested for the foot roll over shape, depicted in Figure 3.11(a). The roll over shape for the first design has a constant radius which is one third of the leg length. This constant radius abruptly changes to a smaller constant radius near the posterior of the foot. This design failed testing because it tends to roll backwards towards the smaller radius, which made it difficult to walk forward.

The second foot design is based on the kinetic shape concept [26]. Kinetic shapes roll on flat surfaces when a force is applied on its axle. This foot shape will roll forward when a person applies their weight on it. This emulates dorsi-flexion of an ankle joint; the shape compensates for the lack of an ankle joint. The shape for this specific foot shape is shown in Figure 3.12. Equation 3.2 is the vertical force, which is based on the assumption that a person weighing 100kg will use the foot. Equation 3.3 is the horizontal force that will be generated when the force is applied. Equation 3.4 is the initial radius assumed for the shape based on one third leg length. These variables are substituted in Equation 3.1 which results in Equation 3.5. The foot design that was implemented is shown in Figure3.11(b), where the radius decreases towards the front of the foot. This design worked successfully and was implemented in the final design used for testing, shown in Figure 3.10.

$$R(\theta) = \exp\left[\int \frac{F_r(\theta)}{F_v(\theta)} d\theta + Constant\right]$$
(3.1)

$$F_{\nu}(\theta) = 1000N \tag{3.2}$$

$$F_r(\theta) = 50N \tag{3.3}$$

$$Initial Radius = 0.30m \tag{3.4}$$

$$R(\theta) = \exp\left[\int \frac{50N}{1000N} d\theta\right]_{\theta=0}^{\theta=\pi} + 0.30m$$
(3.5)



www.manaraa.com



Figure 3.9: Mechanism of Foot Roll Over During Walking.



Kinetic Shape Foot Figure 3.10: Foot Used for the Prosthesis

3.4.3 Mechanism

The foot assembly is fit rigidly to the lower solid cylinder. The foot does not need an ankle mechanism because of the kinetic shape rolls forward when the user applies their force on it. As the user's moment of inertia shifts forward, the foot starts to roll into a smooth forward motion leading to toe off, depicted in Figure 3.9.

3.5 Knee Brace

3.5.1 Introduction

This transfemoral prosthetic simulator is specifically designed for a non-amputee wearer. The design required an interface between the prosthesis and the wearer's leg. The wearer's leg will be





Figure 3.11: The Roll Over Shapes of the Prosthetic Foot. (a) It is the First Design with a Large Constant Radius Anterior to the Ankle Line and Smaller Radius to the Posterior (b) The Second Design which has a Constant Decreasing Radius Towards the Anterior and Constant Increasing Radius to the Posterior



Figure 3.12: Kinetic Shape. (a) Foot Shape Polar Plot (b) Applied and Reaction Force Plot



held at a right angle and secured tightly. The prosthesis is designed to be fit on the knee brace by locking it on a bolt.

3.5.2 Requirements

The knee brace is required to be light weight, rigid, durable, and comfortable. This design is made completely of aluminum and the different components are secured with steel bolts, depicted in Figure 3.1. Aluminum is chosen because it is easy to machine and has a higher shear strength than delrin plastic and wood. The frame is rigid in order to restrain the movement of the wearer's leg because it can interfere with the motion of the prosthesis. Aluminum used for the brace is light and strong enough to withstand continuous load cycles. Table 3.2 shows the safety factors for the base plate which is the component that will experience the maximum load. The brace also defines the position of the prosthetic leg with respect to the Thigh-Knee-Ankle line, discussed in section 2.2.2. The prosthetic leg is placed to the anterior of the wearer's Thigh-Knee-Ankle line to ensure high control and low stability of the prosthesis. This is important because the wearer in this case has all the muscles intact in their leg. The positioning is subject to change when the prosthesis will be fitted upon amputees in the future.

Two unique problems came up while testing the knee brace. First, the knee brace tends to slip down. The only solution to this problem was to secure the brace to the safety harness using bungee cords, depicted in Figure 3.2. The second problem was comfort. The metal components were hard and would hurt the wearer while walking. To ensure the comfort of the wearer, they are required to wear flexible knee braces that provide enough padding. In addition to the padded flexible knee braces, the metal knee brace is provided with additional padding for comfort.

Future designs may look into a simple rigid frame with adjustable shank and thigh lengths to accommodate a wide range of users. The frame may also have an acute angle to have more clearance of the bent leg. The padding can be designed in such a way that it can arrest the user's leg movement.



32

3.6 Safety Analysis of Components

This section is to provide validation to the materials chosen and component design. All components are subjected to the maximum load of 3000N, assumed for three times the body weight of a person weighing 100kg [50]. Although the load may be shared by the components, the tests were to make sure that all components will not fail when maximum load is applied. The load simulations were carried out in SolidWorks Simulationxpress package. The prosthetic components were fixed at points according to their design constraints and a force of 3000N was applied on the components in the downward direction, for circular components it was applied on the surface. The testing was carried out for the aluminum and delrin components because they have a higher chance of failure than steel. This is because steel has a very high shear strength compared to aluminum and delrin. Table 3.2 shows the factor of safety of the components that are subject to the forces directly. Figures of component analysis can be seen in Appendix B.

Analysis was also conducted on assemblies. The main assemblies that were concentrated upon were the knee, foot, thigh, shank, and base plate. The knee assembly stress analysis depicted in Figure 3.13 shows that the top plate of the knee, ends of the shaft, and the locking gear are constrained, and a ground reaction force of 3000N is applied to the knee block and to the meshing portion of the gear rack. This results in high stress in the top plate, shaft and knee block due to high force acting upon them. The factor of safety is low because the knee block is made out of aluminum and it experiences a high shear force. The system on the whole, however, proves that the design was correct and will not fail under the given load.

The prosthetic thigh and shank analysis were performed under similar conditions as the knee. Figure 3.14 depicts the thigh and shank Von-Mises stresses. In the prosthetic thigh assembly, the top of the upper small cylinder is constrained and a force of 3000N is applied on the bottom of the upper large cylinder. This simulates the force coming from the top plate of the knee to the upper large cylinder. On the prosthetic shank assembly, the loading is the reverse of the thigh. As seen the



33



Minimum Factor of Safety for Complete Knee : 1.4 Minimum Factor of Safety for Knee Block : 3.2 Minimum Factor of Safety for Knee Top Plate : 1.4

Figure 3.13: Prosthetic Knee Analysis

maximum stresses are around the holes. The safety factor of the shank is higher because the force that acts upon the solid cylinder.

Analysis was performed on both foot designs, depicted in Figure 3.15. The top surface of the foot is constrained in order to avoid the calculation of maximum displacement, which is not important for this trial. A ground reaction force of 3000N is applied on both the designs and it is observed that the factor of safety of the second design is higher than the first. This change can be explained because of the shapes of the foot designs. The first design has two constant radii that change the roll over shape suddenly at the ankle line. In the second design, which has a constant decreasing radius, the roll over shape is gradual and is capable of distributing the force better than the constant radius design.

The base plate is analyzed using the thigh assembly attached. The attachment bolt hole is constrained and a ground reaction force of 3000N is applied on the bottom of the large cylinder. As seen in Figure 3.16 the hole experiences high stress concentration. The factor safety indicates that the design is still far from failing.





Figure 3.14: Prosthetic Thigh and Shank Stress Analysis. (a) Prosthetic Thigh Assembly with the Top of the Small Cylinder Constrained and Ground Reaction Force of 3000N Acting on the Bottom Circumference of the Large Cylinder (b) Prosthetic Shank Assembly with the Upper Circumference of the Large Cylinder Fixed and a Ground Reaction Force of 3000N Acting on the Bottom of the Small Cylinder



Figure 3.15: Prosthetic Foot Analysis. (a) Von Mises Stress Experienced by Constant Radius Design (b) Von Mises Stress Experienced by Shape Constant Decreasing Radius Design



S.No	Part	Weight	Number of Components	Combined Weight
		(Grams)		(Grams)
1	Lower Small Cylinder	207.9	1	207.9
2	Upper Small Cylinder	223.8	1	223.8
3	Front Knee Plate + Stopper	129.1	1	129.1
4	Steel Gear Rack	38	2	76
5	Upper Large Cylinder	269.7	1	269.7
6	Knee Top Plate	90.3	1	90.3
7	Lower Large Cylinder	255.4	1	255.4
8	Knee Side Plate	80.6	2	161.2
9	Ball Bearing	60.5	2	121
10	Steel Shaft	241.4	1	241.4
11	Collar	89	2	178
12	Half Gear	87.4	2	174.8
13	Knee Block	276.5	1	276.5
14	Brass Connecting Bolt	33.1	1	33.1
15	Aluminum Bars	146	4	584
16	Line Holder	62.4	4	249.6
17	Right Angle Bracket	118.2	2	472.8
18	Base Plate	281.3	1	281.3
19	Bolt and Nut	26.3	22	578.6
Weight of Knee Brace:			2.19 Kg	
	Weight of Extenders:		0.95 Kg	
	Weight of Knee:		1.5 Kg	
Weight of Total system:			4.6 Kg	

Table 3.1: Mass of Prosthetic Components

Table 3.2: Miminum Factor of Safety for Prosthetic Components

S.No	Prosthetic Component	Miminum Factor of Safety	
I	Prosthetic Knee	1.4	
2	Prosthetic Thigh	1.5	
3	Prosthetic Shank	2.6	
4	Foot	7.2	
5	Base Plate	1.4	









CHAPTER 4: TESTING AND EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

4.1 Kinetic and Kinematic Data Aquisition Protocol

The data acquisition was done in two stages. The first stage was to collect kinematic data on three subjects. The data was collected for trials consisting of normal walking, knee at high setting, knee at medium setting, and knee at lowest setting. A VICON system which has an accuracy of 1mm and sampling rate of 120 Hz was used to obtain the kinematic data. The VICON uses infrared cameras and reflective markers to accurately track every marker's motion in 3D space. The markers were put on the lower extremity of the participants as shown in Figure 4.1 for normal walking, and Figure 4.2 shows the marker placement with the prosthetic simulator.

The three participants chosen for the study were all male and did not have any gait disability. All participants wore the prosthesis on their right leg. The kinematic data was collected on all subjects for all four trials. Table 4.1 shows the height, weight, leg length, and shank length. The participants walked on a wooden platform, which is the same as overground walking. All participants followed an approved USF Internal Review Board (IRB) protocol.

Table 4.1: Participant Data								
Subject	Weight	Height	Leg Length	Shank Length				
	(Kilograms)	(Centimeters)	(Centimeters)	(Centimeters)				
1	96	186	98	43				
2	85	189	110	55				
3	108	184	98	52				
Average	96.3	186.3	102	50				
Standard Deviation	11.5	2.5	6.9	6.2				





Figure 4.1: Full Body Marker Layout



Figure 4.2: Markers for Prosthetic Simulator



The second stage was to collect kinetic and kinematic data. The trials for this data acquisition are the same as the first stage. A Computer Assisted Rehabilitation ENvironment (CAREN) system was used for this stage of testing, shown in Figure 4.9. The CAREN also has a VICON system for kinematic data acquisition. It also has a split-belt treadmill with force plates to measure the kinetic data. Therefore, the first stage is ground walking and the second stage involves treadmill walking.

Subject 3 from the first stage was put through the complete set of trials (normal walking, knee at high setting, knee at medium setting, and knee at lowest setting) for the second stage. The kinetic and kinematic data were recorded for both legs. The kinematic data for both stages were post processed to obtain useful data. The gait cycle of the skeletal frame from the processed data for the gait is shown Figure 4.3.

4.2 Kinematic Data Analysis for First Stage Testing

The step lengths were calculated by finding the difference between the position of the left heel and the right heel. Corresponding swing times were also found for each leg. Step length and swing time graphs were plotted for each trial, shown in Appendix C. A cumulative average and standard deviation was found for all subjects, shown in Figures 4.4 and Figure 4.5. Step lengths for all trials are symmetric. The step lengths of the knee at low setting are higher than the other settings. The medium setting is very close to the step lengths of the low setting. The knee at high setting is overall the farthest from normal walking step length. Therefore, the step lengths of the prosthesis at low setting are symmetric and closest to normal walking, which is the trend that was expected to be seen based on the passive dynamic model of walking.

The swing times were also found to be asymmetric. The left leg (healthy leg) has the same time for its swings for all cases. The leg with the prosthetic simulator has either a symmetric swing time as the healthy leg or takes more time to swing. Therefore, the cumulative step times do not show a pattern such as the one observed in step lengths.





Figure 4.3: Gait with Prosthetic Simulator- VICON Model



Figure 4.4: Cumulative Step Length Plot for All Subjects



Figure 4.5: Cumulative Swing Time Plot for All Subjects





Figure 4.7: Swing Time for CAREN System

4.3 Kinematic and Kinetic Data Analysis for Second Stage Testing on CAREN System

Kinematic data obtained from the CAREN system is shown in Figure 4.6 and Figure 4.7. Looking at the step length graph it can be seen that the subject takes longer steps with the prosthetic leg; note that the swing time of the prosthesis is shorter than the left leg. Step lengths of the left leg are slightly asymmetric in the medium and the high knee setting. The low knee setting is the closest trial to emulate normal walking gait. The high knee setting shows the most asymmetry in step lengths. Swing times of the low knee setting is symmetric whereas the high knee setting is asymmetric.

Kinetic data of the ground reaction forces was also obtained for all the trials on the CAREN system, shown in Figure 4.8. Looking at the data it is apparent that the person applies more force on the prosthesis. This is because there is a high shock load that is applied on the prosthesis, this is another form of compensation mechanism. An interesting symmetry in the forces is seen in the high position; the subject was walking with slightly more force on the healthy leg than on the prosthesis.



The most significant trend observed is that the closest force that resembles normal walking is the trial with the low knee setting. More data has to be collected on different subjects walking to have a more comprehensive understanding of the kinetics of the prosthetic simulator.

4.4 Comparison of Data from Treadmill Walking and Over Ground Walking

The data acquired from the ground walking tests was small compared to the data acquired from the treadmill. This is because of the space constraints of a VICON system which cannot cover a very large distance for ground walking. This is not an issue with a treadmill; more steps can be recorded on a treadmill. Previous research on healthy subjects has not shown any statistically differences between overground walking and treadmill walking [76]. A recent study which compared overground walking with treadmill walking in the CAREN system of transtibial amputees and healthy subjects showed that overground and treadmill walking were similar enough, except for a slight variability in step width and step time results [17].

The previous sections analyze the data from ground walking and treadmill walking. The data for step length shows that over ground step lengths are more symmetric compared to the treadmill step lengths. The swing times for the left leg vary from ground walking to treadmill, but the prosthesis has almost the same times in both cases. A definite conclusion cannot be arrived to prove that there is a statistical significance given the small sample size especially for treadmill study which had only one participant. Further studies have to be conducted on more subjects to arrive at an exact conclusion for this comparison.

4.5 Discussion

The asymmetric transfermoral prosthetic simulator has its concept rooted in the passive dynamic walker model. A future expansion of this project is to compare the real world kinetics and kinematics of the prosthetic simulator to an asymmetric PDW model with the same characteristics of the device.





Figure 4.8: Ground Reaction Force Graph. For Every Trial on the CAREN System



Figure 4.9: CAREN System

The asymmetric PDW model in this case can simulate variation in knee location, thigh width, shank width, damping and stiffness of the knee, and leg lengths. This versatile computational PDW model is purely driven by dynamics and does not have a neural feedback component to it. The comparison of kinetic and kinematic data from the prosthetic simulator to the model will show the impact of neural feedback in compensatory motion during walking. This test between neural feedback and pure dynamics will help in the design of better prosthetic systems.



CHAPTER 5: FUTURE WORK AND CONCLUSIONS

This research project has shown that an asymmetric prosthetic simulator fitted on able-bodied subjects can bring about changes in gait. It also showed that the individuals wearing the prosthetic simulator were compensating in different ways. Different compensation patterns are typical for individuals with transfemoral amputation. This is the first prototype of this design, and future iterations have to be tested with a larger population to show statistical significance of the results reported. This research can be further expanded to look into compensatory kinematics and kinetics at the hip joints, knee, and ankle joint of the healthy leg. The CAREN system also poses the human body model which can be used to identify the muscle groups used to compensate for the prosthesis.

The simple knee mechanism and kinetic foot shape have the potential to reduce the cost of passive prosthetics. Future design will concentrate on weight reduction, comfort, modularity in components, and focus on reducing energy costs during walking. Figure 5.1 shows a modular design concept of both the prosthetic simulator and a prosthetic leg with a socket. The designs are also fitted with symmetric locks that can be opened when the person needs to sit. Modularity allows the user to have multiple positions of the knee location. Modularity also allows for a lot of room for customizing the prosthesis. Another interesting use of the prosthetic simulator can be a form of hands free crutches with knee joints. This will allow the crutch user to have a more natural gait. A more in-depth investigation into the kinetic foot shapes is required to identify a foot shape that will work for most people. An asymmetric transfemoral prosthesis that can be fitted on amputees is also in the pipeline.





Modular Design of Prosthetic Simulator

Modular Design of Prosthetic Leg

Figure 5.1: Future Modular Design Concepts



LIST OF REFERENCES

- [1] Sunil K Agrawal, Sai K Banala, Abbas Fattah, Vivek Sangwan, Vijaya Krishnamoorthy, John P Scholz, and Hsu Wei-Li. Assessment of motion of a swing leg and gait rehabilitation with a gravity balancing exoskeleton. *Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering, IEEE Transactions on*, 15(3):410–420, 2007.
- [2] Samuel K Au, Paolo Bonato, and Hugh Herr. An emg-position controlled system for an active ankle-foot prosthesis: an initial experimental study. In *Rehabilitation Robotics*, 2005. *ICORR* 2005. 9th International Conference on, pages 375–379. IEEE, 2005.
- [3] Sai K Banala, Seok Hun Kim, Sunil K Agrawal, and John P Scholz. Robot assisted gait training with active leg exoskeleton (alex). *Neural Systems and Rehabilitation Engineering*, *IEEE Transactions on*, 17(1):2–8, 2009.
- [4] RF Baumgartner. Knee disarticulation versus above-knee amputation. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, 3(1):15–19, 1979.
- [5] Ryan D Bellman, Matthew A Holgate, and Thomas G Sugar. Sparky 3: Design of an active robotic ankle prosthesis with two actuated degrees of freedom using regenerative kinetics. In *Biomedical Robotics and Biomechatronics*, 2008. BioRob 2008. 2nd IEEE RAS & EMBS International Conference on, pages 511–516. IEEE, 2008.
- [6] AM Boonstra, J Schrama, V Fidler, and WH Eisma. The gait of unilateral transfemoral amputees. *Scandinavian journal of rehabilitation medicine*, 26(4):217–223, 1994.
- [7] Ernest M Burgess. Disarticulation of the knee. a modified technique. Archives of surgery (Chicago, Ill.: 1960), 112(10):1250, 1977.
- [8] Vanessa E Hsu Chen. *Passive dynamic walking with knees: A point foot model.* PhD thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 2007.



www.manaraa.com

- [9] Joel Chestnutt, Manfred Lau, German Cheung, James Kuffner, Jessica Hodgins, and Takeo Kanade. Footstep planning for the honda asimo humanoid. In *Robotics and Automation, 2005. ICRA 2005. Proceedings of the 2005 IEEE International Conference on*, pages 629–634. IEEE, 2005.
- [10] Dudley S Childress. Historical aspects of powered limb prostheses. *Clinical prosthetics and orthotics*, 9(1):2–13, 1985.
- [11] B Christensen, B Ellegaard, U Bretler, et al. The effect of prosthetic rehabilitation in lower limb amputees. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, 19(1):46–52, 1995.
- [12] Steve Collins, Andy Ruina, Russ Tedrake, and Martijn Wisse. Efficient bipedal robots based on passive-dynamic walkers. *Science*, 307(5712):1082–1085, 2005.
- [13] PJ Corcoran, RH Jebsen, GL Brengelmann, and BC Simons. Effects of plastic and metal leg braces on speed and energy cost of hemiparetic ambulation. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 51(2):69, 1970.
- [14] Allison de Groot, Ryan Decker, and Kyle B Reed. Gait enhancing mobile shoe (gems) for rehabilitation. In EuroHaptics conference, 2009 and Symposium on Haptic Interfaces for Virtual Environment and Teleoperator Systems. World Haptics 2009. Third Joint, pages 190– 195. IEEE, 2009.
- [15] Nancy L Dudek, Meridith B Marks, Shawn C Marshall, and Jodi P Chardon. Dermatologic conditions associated with use of a lower-extremity prosthesis. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 86(4):659–663, 2005.
- [16] Herbert Elftman. The basic pattern of human locomotion. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 51(7):1207–1212, 1951.
- [17] Deanna H Gates, Benjamin J Darter, Jonathan B Dingwell, Jason M Wilken, et al. Comparison of walking overground and in a computer assisted rehabilitation environment (caren) in individuals with and without transtibial amputation. *Journal of neuroengineering and rehabilitation*, 9(1):81, 2012.
- [18] Ignacio Gaunaurd, Robert Gailey, Brian J Hafner, Orlando Gomez-Marin, and Neva Kirk-Sanchez. Postural asymmetries in transfemoral amputees. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, 35(2):171–180, 2011.



- [19] John Goodfellow and John O'Connor. The mechanics of the knee and prosthesis design. *Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery, British Volume*, 60(3):358–369, 1978.
- [20] Ambarish Goswami, Benoit Thuilot, and Bernard Espiau. A study of the passive gait of a compass-like biped robot symmetry and chaos. *The International Journal of Robotics Research*, 17(12):1282–1301, 1998.
- [21] FA Gottschalk and M Stills. The biomechanics of trans-femoral amputation. *Prosthetics and orthotics international*, 18(1):12–17, 1994.
- [22] Robert D Gregg, Tommaso Lenzi, Nicholas P Fey, Levi J Hargrove, and Jonathon W Sensinger. Experimental effective shape control of a powered transfemoral prosthesis. In *IEEE Int. Conf. Rehab. Robotics*, 2013.
- [23] K Hagberg and R Brånemark. Consequences of non-vascular trans-femoral amputation: a survey of quality of life, prosthetic use and problems. *Prosthetics and Orthotics International*, 25(3):186–194, 2001.
- [24] Ismet Handzic. Design and testing of a motion controlled gait enhancing mobile shoe (gems) for rehabilitation. Master's thesis, University of South Florida, 2011.
- [25] Ismet Handzic, Eileen M Barno, Erin V Vasudevan, and Kyle B Reed. Design and pilot study of a gait enhancing mobile shoe. *Paladyn*, 2(4):193–201, 2011.
- [26] Ismet Handzic and Kyle B.Reed. Kinetic shapes: Analysis, verification, and applications. *ASME Journal of Mechanical Design*, 2014.
- [27] Ismet Handzic and Kyle B Reed. Comparison of the passive dynamics of walking on ground, tied-belt and split-belt treadmills, and via the gait enhancing mobile shoe (gems). *IEEE International Conference of Rehabilitation Robotics*, 2013.
- [28] Ismet Handzic and Kyle B Reed. Validation of a passive dynamic walker model for human gait analysis. *35th International Conference of the IEEE EMBS*, Osaka, Japan, 3-7 July, 2013.
- [29] Ismet Handzic, Erin Vasudevan, and Kyle B Reed. Developing a gait enhancing mobile shoe to alter over-ground walking coordination. In *Robotics and Automation (ICRA), 2012 IEEE International Conference on*, pages 4124–4129. IEEE, 2012.



- [30] Ismet Handzic, Erin V Vasudevan, and Kyle B Reed. Motion controlled gait enhancing mobile shoe for rehabilitation. In *Rehabilitation Robotics (ICORR), 2011 IEEE International Conference on*, pages 1–6. IEEE, 2011.
- [31] Andrew H Hansen and Margrit R Meier. Roll-over shapes of the ankle–foot and knee–ankle–foot systems of able-bodied children. *Clinical Biomechanics*, 25(3):248–255, 2010.
- [32] Yuji Harata, Koji Iwano, Fumihiko Asano, and Takashi Ikeda. Efficiency analysis of two-period asymmetric gaits. *International Journal of Dynamics and Control*, pages 1–10, 2013.
- [33] Stefan Hesse, Christine Bertelt, Antje Schaffrin, Matija Malezic, and Karl-Heinz Mauritz. Restoration of gait in nonambulatory hemiparetic patients by treadmill training with partial body-weight support. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 75(10):1087, 1994.
- [34] M Jason Highsmith, Jason T Kahle, Dennis R Bongiorni, Bryce S Sutton, Shirley Groer, and Kenton R Kaufman. Safety, energy efficiency, and cost efficacy of the c-leg for transfermoral amputees: A review of the literature. *Prosthetics and orthotics international*, 34(4):362–377, 2010.
- [35] M Jason Highsmith, Jason T Kahle, Stephanie L Carey, Derek J Lura, Rajiv V Dubey, Kristine R Csavina, and William S Quillen. Kinetic asymmetry in transfermoral amputees while performing sit to stand and stand to sit movements. *Gait & posture*, 34(1):86–91, 2011.
- [36] M Jason Highsmith, Jason T Kahle, Derek J Lura, Amanda L Lewandowski, William S Quillen, and Seok Hun Kim. Stair ascent and ramp gait training with the genium knee. *Technology & Innovation*, 15(4):349–358, 2014.
- [37] M Jason Highsmith, Brian W Schulz, Stephanie Hart-Hughes, Gail A Latlief, and Sam L Phillips. Differences in the spatiotemporal parameters of transtibial and transfemoral amputee gait. *JPO: Journal of Prosthetics and Orthotics*, 22(1):26–30, 2010.
- [38] At L Hof, Renske M van Bockel, Tanneke Schoppen, and Klaas Postema. Control of lateral balance in walking: experimental findings in normal subjects and above-knee amputees. *Gait & posture*, 25(2):250–258, 2007.
- [39] Craig Honeycutt, John Sushko, and Kyle B Reed. Asymmetric passive dynamic walker. In *Rehabilitation Robotics (ICORR), 2011 IEEE International Conference on*, pages 1–6. IEEE, 2011.



- [40] Craig Alan Honeycutt. Utilizing a computational model for the design of a passive dynamic walker. Master's thesis, University of South Florida, 2011.
- [41] CT Huang, JR Jackson, NB Moore, PR Fine, KV Kuhlemeier, GH Traugh, and PT Saunders. Amputation: energy cost of ambulation. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 60(1):18–24, 1979.
- [42] Ryosuke Inoue, Fumihiko Asano, Daiki Tanaka, and Isao Tokuda. Passive dynamic walking of combined rimless wheel and its speeding-up by adjustment of phase difference. In *Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS), 2011 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on*, pages 2747–2752. IEEE, 2011.
- [43] Sonja MHJ Jaegers, J Hans Arendzen, and Henry J de Jongh. Prosthetic gait of unilateral transfemoral amputees: a kinematic study. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 76(8):736–743, 1995.
- [44] Jennifer L Johansson, Delsey M Sherrill, Patrick O Riley, Paolo Bonato, and Hugh Herr. A clinical comparison of variable-damping and mechanically passive prosthetic knee devices. *American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation*, 84(8):563–575, 2005.
- [45] James Oat JudgeRoy, B Davis, and Sylvia Õunpuu. Step length reductions in advanced age: the role of ankle and hip kinetics. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 51(6):M303–M312, 1996.
- [46] KR Kaufman, JA Levine, RH Brey, BK Iverson, SK McCrady, DJ Padgett, and MJ Joyner. Gait and balance of transfemoral amputees using passive mechanical and microprocessor-controlled prosthetic knees. *Gait & posture*, 26(4):489–493, 2007.
- [47] JA Kulk and JS Welsh. A low power walk for the nao robot. In *Proceedings of the 2008 Australasian Conference on Robotics & Automation (ACRA-2008), J. Kim and R. Mahony, Eds.* Citeseer, 2008.
- [48] Tania Lam, Martin Anderschitz, and Volker Dietz. Contribution of feedback and feedforward strategies to locomotor adaptations. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 95(2):766–773, 2006.
- [49] Edward D Lemaire, David Nielen, and Marie Andrie Paquin. Gait evaluation of a transfemoral prosthetic simulator. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 81(6):840–843, 2000.



- [50] Daniel E Lieberman, Madhusudhan Venkadesan, William A Werbel, Adam I Daoud, Susan DŠAndrea, Irene S Davis, Robert Ojiambo MangŠEni, and Yannis Pitsiladis. Foot strike patterns and collision forces in habitually barefoot versus shod runners. *Nature*, 463(7280):531–535, 2010.
- [51] RF Macko, CA DeSouza, LD Tretter, KH Silver, GV Smith, PA Anderson, Naomi Tomoyasu, P Gorman, and DR Dengel. Treadmill aerobic exercise training reduces the energy expenditure and cardiovascular demands of hemiparetic gait in chronic stroke patients a preliminary report. *Stroke*, 28(2):326–330, 1997.
- [52] Rodolfo Margaria and R Margaria. *Biomechanics and energetics of muscular exercise*. Clarendon Press Oxford, 1976.
- [53] Ernesto C Martinez-Villalpando and Hugh Herr. Agonist-antagonist active knee prosthesis: a preliminary study in level-ground walking. *J Rehabil Res Dev*, 46(3):361–73, 2009.
- [54] Sarah J Mattes, Philip E Martin, and Todd D Royer. Walking symmetry and energy cost in persons with unilateral transtibial amputations: matching prosthetic and intact limb inertial properties. *Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation*, 81(5):561–568, 2000.
- [55] Tad McGeer. Passive dynamic walking. *the international journal of robotics research*, 9(2):62–82, 1990.
- [56] Tad McGeer. Passive dynamic walking. *the international journal of robotics research*, 9(2):62–82, 1990.
- [57] Tad McGeer. Passive walking with knees. In *Robotics and Automation, 1990. Proceedings.,* 1990 IEEE International Conference on, pages 1640–1645. IEEE, 1990.
- [58] Steve C Miff, Andrew H Hansen, Dudley S Childress, Steven A Gard, and Margrit R Meier. Roll-over shapes of the able-bodied knee–ankle–foot system during gait initiation, steady-state walking, and gait termination. *Gait & posture*, 27(2):316–322, 2008.
- [59] W Thomas Miller III. Real-time neural network control of a biped walking robot. *Control Systems, IEEE*, 14(1):41–48, 1994.
- [60] Susanne M Morton and Amy J Bastian. Cerebellar contributions to locomotor adaptations during splitbelt treadmill walking. *The Journal of neuroscience*, 26(36):9107–9116, 2006.



- [61] P Mukul, J Sadler, and E Thorsell. Stanford-jaipur knee joint for trans femoral amputees. In *Proceedings of the 13th world congress of the International Society for Prosthetics and Orthotics, Leipzig, Germany*, pages 10–15, 2010.
- [62] Ismet Handzic. Haris Muratagic. and Kyle Reed. Passive kinematic synchronization of uncoupled rotating systems. Unpublished Research Paper.
- [63] Lee Nolan and A Lees. The functional demands on the intact limb during walking for active trans-femoral and trans-tibial amputees. *Prosthetics and orthotics international*, 24(2):117–125, 2000.
- [64] Kim Norton. A brief history of prosthetics. Motion, 2007.
- [65] Sandra J Olney and Carol Richards. Hemiparetic gait following stroke. part i: Characteristics. *Gait & Posture*, 4(2):136–148, 1996.
- [66] Mayur Palankar and Luther Palmer. Toward innate leg stability on unmodeled and natural terrain: Hexapod walking. In *Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS), 2012 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on*, pages 526–531. IEEE, 2012.
- [67] Jacquelin Perry, Jon R Davids, et al. Gait analysis: normal and pathological function. *Journal* of *Pediatric Orthopaedics*, 12(6):815, 1992.
- [68] Dejan Popovic, Rajko Tomovic, Dejan Tepavac, and Laszlo Schwirtlich. Control aspects of active above-knee prosthesis. *International journal of man-machine studies*, 35(6):751–767, 1991.
- [69] M Rabuffetti, M Recalcati, and M Ferrarin. Trans-femoral amputee gait: socket-pelvis constraints and compensation strategies. *Prosthetics and orthotics international*, 29(2):183–192, 2005.
- [70] Marc Raibert, Kevin Blankespoor, Gabriel Nelson, Rob Playter, et al. Bigdog, the rough-terrain quadruped robot. In *Proceedings of the 17th World Congress*, pages 10823–10825, 2008.
- [71] Marc H Raibert. Legged robots. Communications of the ACM, 29(6):499–514, 1986.



- [72] Kyle Reed., Ismet Handzic, and Sam McAmis. *Home-based rehabilitation: enabling frequent* and effective training, In Panagiotis Artemiadis (ed.), Neuro-robotics: From brain machine interfaces to rehabilitation robotics, Springer. (in press), 2014.
- [73] Darcy S Reisman, Amy J Bastian, and Susanne M Morton. Neurophysiologic and rehabilitation insights from the split-belt and other locomotor adaptation paradigms. *Physical Therapy*, 90(2):187–195, 2010.
- [74] Darcy S Reisman, Robert Wityk, Kenneth Silver, and Amy J Bastian. Locomotor adaptation on a split-belt treadmill can improve walking symmetry post-stroke. *Brain*, 130(7):1861–1872, 2007.
- [75] Darcy S Reisman, Robert Wityk, Kenneth Silver, and Amy J Bastian. Split-belt treadmill adaptation transfers to overground walking in persons poststroke. *Neurorehabilitation and neural repair*, 23(7):735–744, 2009.
- [76] Patrick O Riley, Gabriele Paolini, Ugo Della Croce, Kate W Paylo, and D Casey Kerrigan. A kinematic and kinetic comparison of overground and treadmill walking in healthy subjects. *Gait & posture*, 26(1):17–24, 2007.
- [77] Joan E Sanders, Colin H Daly, et al. Normal and shear stresses on a residual limb in a prosthetic socket during ambulation: comparison of finite element results with experimental measurements. *Journal of rehabilitation research and development*, 30:191–191, 1993.
- [78] Uluc Saranli, Martin Buehler, and Daniel E Koditschek. Rhex: A simple and highly mobile hexapod robot. *The International Journal of Robotics Research*, 20(7):616–631, 2001.
- [79] Thomas Schmalz, Siegmar Blumentritt, and Rolf Jarasch. Energy expenditure and biomechanical characteristics of lower limb amputee gait:: The influence of prosthetic alignment and different prosthetic components. *Gait & posture*, 16(3):255–263, 2002.
- [80] M Schmid, G Beltrami, D Zambarbieri, and G Verni. Centre of pressure displacements in trans-femoral amputees during gait. *Gait & posture*, 21(3):255–262, 2005.
- [81] Ava D Segal, Michael S Orendurff, Glenn K Klute, Martin L McDowell, Janice A Pecoraro, Jane Shofer, and Joseph M Czerniecki. Kinematic and kinetic comparisons of transfemoral amputee gait using c-leg (R) and mauch sns (R) prosthetic knees. *Journal of rehabilitation research and development*, 43(7):857, 2006.



- [82] Donald G Shurr, John W Michael, and Thomas Michael Cook. *Prosthetics and orthotics*. Prentice Hall, 2002.
- [83] Erin Strait. Prosthetics in developing countries. Prosthetic Resident, 2006.
- [84] Scott Summit et al. Prosthetic limb with replaceable fairing, September 14 2010. US Patent 7,797,072.
- [85] Frank Sup, Amit Bohara, and Michael Goldfarb. Design and control of a powered transfemoral prosthesis. *The International journal of robotics research*, 27(2):263–273, 2008.
- [86] Frank Sup, Huseyin Atakan Varol, Jason Mitchell, Thomas J Withrow, and Michael Goldfarb. Self-contained powered knee and ankle prosthesis: initial evaluation on a transfermoral amputee. In *Rehabilitation Robotics*, 2009. ICORR 2009. IEEE International Conference on, pages 638–644. IEEE, 2009.
- [87] John Sushko. Asymmetric passive dynamic walker used to examine gait rehabilitation methods. Master's thesis, University of South Florida, 2011.
- [88] John Sushko, Craig Honeycutt, and Kyle B Reed. Prosthesis design based on an asymmetric passive dynamic walker. In *Biomedical Robotics and Biomechatronics (BioRob), 2012 4th IEEE RAS & EMBS International Conference on*, pages 1116–1121. IEEE, 2012.
- [89] Alan J Thurston. Pare and prosthetics: the early history of artificial limbs. *ANZ journal of surgery*, 77(12):1114–1119, 2007.
- [90] Ramazan Unal, Raffaella Carloni, Edsko EG Hekman, Stefano Stramigioli, and HFJM Koopman. Conceptual design of an energy efficient transfemoral prosthesis. In *Intelligent Robots and Systems (IROS), 2010 IEEE/RSJ International Conference on*, pages 343–348. IEEE, 2010.
- [91] Natalie Vanicek, David J Sanderson, Romeo Chua, Dave Kenyon, and J Timothy Inglis. Kinematic adaptations to a novel walking task with a prosthetic simulator. *JPO: Journal of Prosthetics and Orthotics*, 19(1):29–35, 2007.
- [92] Christopher L Vaughan, Brian L Davis, and Jeremy C O'connor. *Dynamics of human gait*. Human Kinetics Publishers USA, 1992.



- [93] AH Vrieling, HG Van Keeken, T Schoppen, E Otten, JPK Halbertsma, AL Hof, and K Postema. Gait initiation in lower limb amputees. *Gait & posture*, 27(3):423–430, 2008.
- [94] AH Vrieling, HG Van Keeken, T Schoppen, E Otten, JPK Halbertsma, AL Hof, and K Postema. Gait termination in lower limb amputees. *Gait & posture*, 27(1):82–90, 2008.
- [95] Martijn Wisse, Daan GE Hobbelen, Remco JJ Rotteveel, Stuart O Anderson, and Garth J Zeglin. Ankle springs instead of arc-shaped feet for passive dynamic walkers. In *Humanoid Robots, 2006 6th IEEE-RAS International Conference on*, pages 110–116. IEEE, 2006.
- [96] Martijn Wisse, Arend L Schwab, and RQ vd Linde. A 3d passive dynamic biped with yaw and roll compensation. *Robotica*, 19(3):275–284, 2001.
- [97] Kazutoshi Yokogushi, Hiroshi Narita, Eiichi Uchiyama, Susumu Chiba, T Nosaka, and K-i Yamakoshi. Biomechanical and clinical evaluation of a newly designed polycentric knee of transfemoral prosthesis. *Journal of Rehabilitation Research and Development*, 41:675–682, 2004.
- [98] Jia-fan Zhang, Yi-ming Dong, Can-jun Yang, Yu Geng, Ying Chen, and Yin Yang. 5-link model based gait trajectory adaption control strategies of the gait rehabilitation exoskeleton for post-stroke patients. *Mechatronics*, 20(3):368–376, 2010.
- [99] Daniel Zlatnik, Beatrice Steiner, and Gerhard Schweitzer. Finite-state control of a trans-femoral (tf) prosthesis. *Control Systems Technology, IEEE Transactions on*, 10(3):408–420, 2002.



APPENDICES



Appendix A: Pictures



Figure A.1: Knee Assembly Without Collars



Figure A.2: Knee Assembly Dismantled





Figure A.3: Knee Assembly Dismantled Isometric View



Figure A.4: Aluminum Raw Material 2D Drawing



Figure A.5: Spur Gear and Gear Rack 2D Drawing



Appendix B: Graphs for All Trials



Figure B.1: Normal Walking Step Length Graph for All Subjects



Figure B.2: Normal Walking Swing Time Graph for All Subjects





Figure B.3: Walking with Knee at Low Setting - Step Length Graph for All Subjects



Figure B.4: Walking with Knee at Low Setting - Swing Time for All Subjects



Figure B.5: Walking with Knee at Medium Setting - Step Length Graph for All Subjects




Figure B.6: Walking with Knee at Medium Setting - Swing Time for All Subjects



Figure B.7: Walking with Knee at High Setting - Step Length Graph for All Subjects



Figure B.8: Walking with Knee at High Setting - Swing Time for All Subjects

